NATURE IN PREGNACY STUDY

FULL TITLE: Application Development Award – Mental health and wellbeing among young women: Mapping current green social support, network building, and developing PPI structures to underpin an evaluative study among pregnant young women.

RESEARCH PROTOCOL: V.2

Table of Contents

Version Control Table	3
Funding Acknowledgement and Disclaimer	3
Summary of Research	4
Background and Rationale	6
Aims and Objectives	8
Research Plan	8
Dissemination, Outputs and Anticipated Impact	11
Ethics approvals	12
Project / Research Timetable	12
Project Management and Governance	13
Project team and expertise	14
Success criteria and barriers	14
References	15

Version Control Table

Version	Comments
V1	As submitted and approved by the NIHR PHR funding committee
V2	The addition of some PPI focus groups with providers of nature activities.

Funding Acknowledgement and Disclaimer

This project is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) [PHR programme, grant number 135167]. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Summary of Research

Background

A quarter of young women report symptoms of mental ill-health[1] and rates are rising.[2] Young pregnant women are particularly vulnerable[4,12] with perinatal and postnatal mental disorders being common co-morbidities of pregnancy.[3] This affects women's wellbeing but also the health of their children.[9,10,11] There is a substantial cost to NHS and social care associated with these impacts on maternal mental health and wellbeing.[9]

Increasing social support is well established as a means to promote mental health and wellbeing in the general population[14,15,16] and in pregnancy.[4,17,18,19] Access to nature has also been found to be beneficial to mental health and wellbeing,[24,25,26,27,28] including for women and pregnant women.[29,30] However more robust evaluative studies are needed.

This project aims to investigate current services and create new networks (including PPI) to support application development for a future study evaluating social, nature based activities to promote mental health and wellbeing in young pregnant women.

Aim

To perform underpinning development work to support an application to a future commissioned funding call.

Objectives

1) To conduct a mapping exercise of the social, nature based, support and services available in the East Midlands to promote mental health and wellbeing.

2) To develop a young women's maternity research involvement group, to explore their views on acceptability of interventions and barriers and facilitators to participation.

3) To develop a comprehensive network of partners to support and/or deliver a future pilot study, including NGOs, policy makers, and any additional academic expertise required.

Methods

The study will map the current provision of community social, nature based activities in the East Midlands. A search for relevant services will be completed and a brief survey sent for more details. Employing a snowball sampling strategy will help to reach other relevant organisations. Through this, our networks, and social media we will contact women with lived experience of pregnancy at a young age (16-24 years) to form a 'Research Influencers

Group' (RIG). We will also conduct focus groups with providers of nature activities. The RIG will review the findings of the mapping exercise to reach consensus about which services/support would be most acceptable to young pregnant women. One or more of those chosen by women will form the intervention to be evaluated in the future commissioned call. We will prioritise organisations working with ethnically and socio-economically diverse groups to help address health inequalities. Alongside this we will strengthen networks with relevant experts and organisations to support a robust design and implementation of a future evaluative study.

Timelines

The study will run for 6 months with a final report delivered by the end of the study. Prestudy to month 1, study set up; the mapping exercise will be completed in months 1-4; months 2-6 will include exploring women's views and developing networks.

Impact and dissemination

The main impact of this study will be to develop a future application to the commissioned call; forming a young women's PPI group and strengthening our networks. The findings of the mapping exercise will be published in an academic journal and made available in an accessible format.

Background and Rationale

More women in the UK are presenting with mental ill-health than ever before.¹ A quarter of young women now report symptoms of mental ill-health¹ and rates in women continue to rise whilst rates in men have remained stable from 2000 onwards.² Pregnant and postnatal women are particularly at risk, as perinatal and postnatal mental health disorders are some of the most common co-morbidities of pregnancy.³ Recent systematic reviews report the prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety at 15-20% and 10% respectively,^{4,5,6} with 17% of mothers experiencing postnatal depression.⁷ This can have a devasting impact on women's quality of life, their relationships, and attachment with their child.⁸ Maternal mental health problems can also impact child health such as adverse birth outcomes,^{8,10} and emotional, behavioural and developmental issues in childhood.^{8,9,11}There is a **substantial cost** associated with this to the public sector, particularly to NHS and social care. The combined costs of perinatal anxiety and depression are estimated to be £8500 per woman giving birth; 60% of these costs related to the adverse impact on children.⁹

Young pregnant women are particularly vulnerable to poor mental health and wellbeing.^{4,12} Antenatal anxiety is significantly associated with young age,⁴ and adolescents have an increased risk of becoming depressed during^{4,12} and after¹² pregnancy. Other risk factors include a history of mental ill-health;¹³ low educational achievement and unemployment; insecure relationships; and current/past pregnancy problems.⁴ Lack of social support may also increase of anxiety and depression during pregnancy.⁴ However, good quality social support can mitigate symptoms and is important for wellbeing throughout the maternity period.^{4,12} Indeed, **increasing social networks and support** is well established as a means to promote mental health and wellbeing. ^{14,15,16,17} In pregnancy, greater social support networks have been found to have protective effects against health outcomes as diverse as; postnatal depression, ¹⁸ pregnancy complication in women with additional risk factors;^{17,19} and cortisol secretion, which can be harmful to the foetus.²⁰ Additional social support in pregnancy has long term benefits on the psychosocial health of mothers and children's health and development.²¹ Group approaches to pregnancy care are also well received by young women and offer opportunities for learning and socialising amongst peers.^{22,23}

Alongside social support there is increasing evidence that **access to nature** (green and blue space) is beneficial to mental health and general wellbeing, ^{24,25,26,27,28} and **reduces socio-economic health inequalities**.²⁹ Regular visits to nature can improve wellbeing, help people feel their lives are more worthwhile and increase happiness.²⁵ A recent review found that 23 of 25 studies showed positive associations between access to urban green space and mental health in the general population but called for more evaluative studies going beyond cross-sectional surveys.²⁴ There are also particular benefits to pregnant women as proximity to nature may have stronger protective effects on mental health for females, as well as lower income and lower educated groups.³⁰ Pregnant women living in greener environments were

around 20% less likely to report symptoms of depression and improving access to green space was suggested as a promising intervention for reducing risk of depression, particularly in disadvantaged groups.³¹ These encouraging findings have generally not been derived from samples of young pregnant women, therefore, there is an urgent need for robust evaluative studies to add to this evidence.

Social and green prescribing is increasing in the UK as healthcare commissioners and public health bodies acknowledge the associated health^{,32,33} and economic benefits.^{34,35,36} Green space has also been recognised as vital during the COVID-19 pandemic.³⁷ A cross-government initiative was launched end 2020 with a £5.77m investment to embed green prescribing into communities.³⁸ This initiative aims to improve mental health outcomes and develop best practice for green social activities, in terms of resilience and accessibility.³⁸ The East Midlands region secured funding for two of the seven *test and learn* sites nationally; 'Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care System', and 'Joined Up Care Derbyshire Sustainability and Transformation Partnership'.³⁸

The over-arching aim of this project is to underpin an application to the future NIHR PHR commissioned call. We will **focus on social, nature-based activities** to promote mental health and wellbeing amongst young pregnant women. The project will take place in the East Midlands region (Notts, Derbys, Leics, Lincs, Northants, Rutland) as it encompasses diverse populations in a mix of rural, semi-rural, urban and coastal environments. The East Midlands has similar deprivation scores to the England average.³⁹ This region also has slightly higher than average adult depression rates and number of births to women aged under 20 compared to the rest of England.⁴⁰ Therefore, there is a need to promote mental health among young mothers in this region and the range of environments will ensure findings are generalisable. To our knowledge this would be the first study to investigate the effects of social, nature based, community activities on the mental health and wellbeing among young pregnant women.

Aims and Objectives

Aim: To complete development work to underpin and support an application to the NIHR PHR commissioned call on 'mental health and wellbeing among young women' focusing on pregnancy.

Research question: a) What green social activities are available to promote mental health and wellbeing, b) are they acceptable to young pregnant women, and c) what networks are necessary to deliver and test these interventions?

Objectives:

- 1. To conduct a mapping exercise of the social, nature based, support and services available in the East Midlands to promote mental health and wellbeing.
- 2. To develop a diverse young women's maternity research involvement group, to explore their views on acceptability of interventions and barriers and facilitators to participation.
- 3. To develop a comprehensive network of partners to support and/or deliver a future pilot study, including NGOs, policy makers, and additional academic expertise.

Research Plan

This project comprises development work to underpin an application to a future commissioned call on promoting the wellbeing and mental health of young women. For these calls our focus will be on the sub-population of **pregnant** young women. This will include: 1) A mapping exercise, 2) gaining the expert views of women 3) Developing networks and partnerships, 4) synthesis.

1. Mapping exercise (Months 1-4): We will perform a mapping exercise of community social, nature based, support and services available to pregnant young women in the East Midlands to promote mental health and wellbeing. We will map all relevant support **available** to the general population that meets our inclusion criteria, not only those specifically targeted to this group. Mapping these wider services across a range of sectors will provide a comprehensive picture of what is available which can then be adapted for use amongst young pregnant women in future work. The mapping will follow the processes described in Price et al's (2019) 'Seven steps to mapping health service provision'⁴¹ but

modified for our focus on community rather than NHS services. The seven steps in detail are:

<u>1) Defining target service</u>: The target service is defined as social, nature-based support and/or services to promote mental health and wellbeing which are available to (but not necessarily exclusively targeted at) young pregnant women aged 16 – 24.

Inclusion criteria: includes social elements and based in nature (green or blue spaces); service is free of charge to reduce health inequalities based on ability to pay; services which are inclusive to young pregnant women; services which promote mental health and wellbeing; in the East Midlands including local services offered by national organisations.

Exclusion criteria: Services targeting individuals with specific health issues, unless pregnancy related; services that aim to treat, rather than prevent, mental health issues; services which exclude young pregnant women; NHS services/support which are not based in the community.

2) Identifying informants: We will use our existing networks, public health departments (LA and CCG), link workers, and directories of voluntary services, along with internet and social media search engines to identify support services. We will engage with the local government funded green prescribing for mental health *test and learn* sites in Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire³⁸ as we know they already have activities ongoing. Organisations will be asked to complete the survey (explained below), including knowledge of other services/support in the region and contact details. This will create a snowball sampling effect to reach organisations which may only be known by others offering similar support.

<u>3) Designing the survey:</u> A short online survey, created with Microsoft Forms, will be sent to organisations to ascertain the services/support provided. The survey will be designed collaboratively by the research team and our PPI group in Month 1, but it is expected to cover:

- Organisational issues: Does the service promote mental health and wellbeing and brief description; Do you evaluate the impact of the service/support or measure particular outcomes?; How long has the service been running?; Are there any plans to scale up?; Costs and funding?
- Service users and access: Is the service inclusive to young pregnant women?; If you
 already work with young pregnant women, would you be willing to help facilitate us
 gaining their opinions for some future research?; How many people access the
 service and how is this facilitated?

 Further information and interest in study: Do you know of any other local services/support to promote mental health and wellbeing?; Would you be interested in partnering in a future project?

<u>4) Data collection:</u> We will use direct email to organisations identified in step 2 and 3 with a link to the online survey. We will also share the link to the online survey via social media to further the reach of the mapping exercise. If no email address is available or there is no response we will seek to complete the survey by telephone.

5) Data analysis: Data from the survey will be categorised by type of service provided, if/how the service has been evaluated and interest in partnering in future research. This will inform the next stages of the study - exploring women's views and developing networks.

6&7) <u>Communicating findings and updating service map</u>: We will disseminate the mapping in an accessible format through our networks (community groups, specialist midwives, mental health services) and social media. We would also be happy to share the map if a partner organisation wishes to keep it current beyond this project.

PPI Focus groups

We will conduct some PPI focus groups with providers of nature-based activities identified in the mapping survey. We will explore their views on how green prescribing works in practice, and whether they see any particular opportunities or challenges in working with young pregnant women. These will be conducted after the young women's focus groups (detailed below) and therefore can also explore any issues raised by the young women.

2. Exploring women's views and developing a young women's PPI group (Months 3-6)

We will engage with organisations identified in the mapping exercise and those we already know who currently work with young pregnant women to facilitate a minimum of three engagement focus group sessions. These will enable young women to learn more about this research and explore their views. We will invite women from these sessions to join us as 'Research Influencers' and to form a Research Influencers Group (RIG). The RIG will act as a PPI advisory board to inform this project and continue into the future commissioned call. We will also advertise the opportunities available to join the RIG on social media and the NIHR 'People in Research' website to ensure that we reach as diverse a population of young pregnant women as possible. We will establish a RIG of 4-6 members, to meet on two occasions in months 4 and 6. Members will be reimbursed for their time in line with NIHR guidelines for public involvement. We will also continue to explore women's views throughout this project by regularly engaging with our established Nottingham Maternity Research Network.

The main focus of the RIG will be to review the findings of the mapping exercise and select one or more suitable interventions that would be acceptable to young pregnant women and potentially most beneficial to their mental health and wellbeing (month 4). These will form the shortlist of interventions to test within the future evaluative study application. In month 6 the RIG will meet to review findings of the study and plan next steps. This will involve the design of the future evaluative study, including recruitment, public facing materials, outcomes, and dissemination.

3. Developing networks and partnerships (Months 3-6)

<u>Organisations providing green social activities:</u> The services shortlisted by the RIG will be contacted to learn more about how they operate and the population they serve. The aim of these discussions will be to ensure services/support could be adapted for young pregnant women. We will prioritise organisations working with ethnically and socioeconomically diverse populations to address potential health inequalities. This stage is important to confirm buy-in of organisations that will deliver the intervention. For ease of access for participants, sustainability, and cost-effectiveness, we expect the majority of these meetings will be via video-call. However, it may be useful to visit some of the candidate services to better understand their offer.

<u>Research and implementation networks:</u> We will discuss amongst our team (mental health, behavioural science; maternity) to agree which additional specific expertise will be necessary to deliver a robust high-quality evaluative study based on the service chosen. Through new and existing networks we will then invite individuals / organisations to join the research team who have expertise in those particular areas to support delivery and to fast-track adoption. This will include representatives from policy and practice communities such as public health, local government decision-makers, link workers, voluntary groups, public services, and researchers.

4. Synthesis (Month 6) We will synthesise information and use the networks developed to propose a Theory of Change⁴² for the intervention and create an outline research plan for a future feasibility / pilot evaluative study (depending on the intervention selected). These will form the basis of the application to the future commissioned call.

Dissemination, Outputs and Anticipated Impact

The main output will be a final report to NIHR of our findings, including an outline research plan for a future evaluative study, delivered by the project end date. Additional outputs will also include:

- 1. An academic and plain language publication of the mapping exercise and sharing findings via our networks and social media. The accessible publication will be translated to other commonly spoken languages in the UK.
- 2. Identification of one or more existing social, nature-based community interventions to be evaluated in a future study that are acceptable to young pregnant women to promote mental health and wellbeing.
- 3. A network of partner organisations to support the development and execution of a future evaluative study.
- 4. A new young women's maternity PPI group to continue into the future evaluative study and beyond to leave a legacy of improved involvement of young women in maternity research.

Ethics approvals

As this study consists of patient and public involvement and service evaluation then there is no need for ethics approvals. However, we will submit details to the University of Nottingham, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Ethics Committee to confirm this. NHS ethical approval is not required as no participants will be recruited through NHS sites.

Project / Research Timetable

The 6-month project will run from 1st March 2022 with the final report delivered by 1 Sep 2022. Elements will run concurrently. See Gantt chart below for a full breakdown.

Pre-study to month 1 Project set up: study set up, initial PPI work during regular Nottingham Maternity Research Network meetings.

Months 1-4 Mapping exercise: <u>Month 1:</u> Defining target services, identifying informants, survey design. <u>Months 2-3</u>: Survey distribution, data collection, identifying new services through snowball sampling and redistributing survey. <u>Month 4</u>: Data analysis, report of findings, dissemination.

Months 2-6 Developing networks/ partnerships and exploring women's views: <u>Months 2-</u> <u>3</u>: Contacting relevant services to confirm interest and relevance as soon as data is acquired; PPI engagement sessions and inviting women to join the RIG; shortlisting suitable services. <u>Month 4</u>: Forming RIG; sending shortlist to RIG and meeting to discuss and reach consensus on services that would be acceptable to young pregnant women; research team meeting to discuss and agree on potential skills/experience gaps for future study. <u>Month 5:</u> Meetings with service providers selected to discuss involvement in future funding application; identifying and meeting with additional experts needed to discuss interest in study. <u>Month 6:</u> RIG meeting to discuss findings.

6 month project – Commencing March 2022	Month						
	Pre-study	0-1	1-2	2-3	3-4	4-5	5-6
Management and governance							
Project management meetings							
RIG (PPI) meetings							
Nottingham PPI Network meetings							
Project set up							
Study execution							
Service mapping exercise							
Exploring women's views							
Developing networks							
Synthesis							
Reporting and dissemination							
Two month interim report to funder							
Outline research plan and Theory of Change							
Final report to funder							
Draft academic publication and accessible summary							
Stakeholder dissemination							

Figure 1- Gantt Chart

Project Management and Governance

Study development and management

GS (PI) will have overall responsibility for managing and running the study, supported and mentored by HS (Co-PI). This includes working with stakeholders, data collection and analysis, dissemination, and developing future application.

Monitoring and reporting

Project management meetings with all co-applicants will be held monthly. A progress report (month 2) and final report (month 6) will be provided to the funder. The PPI group (RIG) formed as part of the project will meet in months 4 and 6, and the study progress will be presented to the Nottingham Maternity Research Network PPI group during regular quarterly meetings.

Financial management

The PI will manage finances employing the University of Nottingham's financial processes and management systems. The University's finance team will assist in producing the necessary finance reports.

Patient and Public Involvement

HS will lead PPI activities and is experienced in delivering high quality PPI work. We will invite at least one member of the RIG to be a co-applicant in our application to the future call and others to continue as RIG members.

Project team and expertise

The proposed research team have extensive experience of healthcare and public health research, particularly amongst pregnant women, young people, and vulnerable groups.

Dr Gina Sands (Principal Investigator): Senior Research Fellow in Maternity Care. Sands is an experienced healthcare researcher with a background of Human Factors and interdisciplinary public health research.

Professor Helen Spiby (Joint-Principal Investigator): Professor of Midwifery. Spiby has experience of conducting maternity research with disadvantaged women and of leading high-quality PPI work.

Professor Holly Blake (Co-Investigator): Professor of Behavioural Medicine & Chartered Health Psychologist. Blake brings expertise in behavioural science, self-management, and patient experiences in research.

Dr Tim Carter (Co-Investigator): Assistant Professor in Mental Health, Registered Mental Health Nurse and Accredited Cognitive Behavioural Psychotherapist. Carter brings clinical and research experience in young people's mental health and physical activity.

Success criteria and barriers

The measures of success for this project are 1) complete on time and on budget, 2) produce outputs (map, research plan) to underpin and support a future application to the commissioned call, 3) establish PPI thus facilitating the meaningful involvement of women with lived experience. Completion of this project is comfortably within the capabilities of the research team and therefore relatively low-risk. The main potential barrier to the success of the study is the short timescale (6 months). Involving young women in research can be challenging, however we have identified organisations who will facilitate PPI engagement sessions. We do not expect further waves of COVID-19 to affect the progress or completion of the study as most work will be remote and services are likely to operate outside.

References

1. British Medical Association (BMA). 2018. Addressing unmet needs in women's mental health. Available at: https://www.bma.org.uk/media/2115/bma-womens-mental-health-report-aug-2018.pdf [Accessed - July 2021].

2. NHS Digital. 2016. Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey: Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing, England, 2014. Available at: https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB21748 [Accessed July 2021].

3. Howard, L.M., Khalifeh, H. 2020. Perinatal mental health: a review of progress and challenges. World Psychiatry, 19: 313-327. doi: 10.1002/wps.20769.

4. Biaggi, A., Conroy, S., Pawlby, S., Pariante, CM. 2016. Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: A systematic review, Journal of Affective Disorders, Volume 191, 62-77. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.014.

5. Dennis, CL., Falah-Hassani, K., Shiri, R. 2017. Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry, 210(5),315-323. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.187179.

6. Fawcett, EJ., Fairbrother, N., Cox, ML., White, IR., Fawcett, JM. 2019. The Prevalence of Anxiety Disorders During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period: A Multivariate Bayesian Meta-Analysis. J Clin Psychiatry, 23;80(4):18r12527. doi: 10.4088/JCP.18r12527.

7. Shorey, S., Chee, CYI., Ng, ED., et al. 2018. Prevalence and incidence of postpartum depression among healthy mothers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res, 104, 235-48. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.08.001.

8. Lee, DTS., Chung, TKH. 2007. Postnatal depression: an update. Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 21 (2), 183-191, doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2006.10.003.

9. Bauer, A., Knapp, M., Parsonage, M. 2016. Lifetime costs of perinatal anxiety and depression. Journal of Affective Disorders, 192, 83-90. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.005.

10. Ghimire, U., Papabathini, SS., Kawuki, J., Obore, N., Musa, TH. 2021. Depression during pregnancy and the risk of low birth weight, preterm birth and intrauterine growth restriction- an updated meta-analysis. Early Human Development, 152, 105243. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2020.105243.

11. Netsi, E., Pearson, RM., Murray, L., Cooper, P., Craske, MG., Stein, A. 2018. Association of Persistent and Severe Postnatal Depression With Child Outcomes. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 75(3):247–253. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.4363

12. Siegel, RS., Brandon, AR. 2014. Adolescents, Pregnancy, and Mental Health, Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology, 27 (3), 138-150, doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2013.09.008.

13. Hill, B., Kothe, EJ., Currie, S. et al. 2019. A systematic mapping review of the associations between pregnancy intentions and health-related lifestyle behaviours or psychological wellbeing, Preventive Medicine Reports, 14, doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.100869.

14. Greenblatt, M., Becerra, R. M., Serafetinides, E. A. 1982. Social networks and mental health: An overview. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *139*(8), 977–984. doi: 10.1176/ajp.139.8.977.

15. Kawachi, I., Berkman, L.F. 2001. Social ties and mental health. *J Urban Health* **78**, 458–467 (2001). doi: 10.1093/jurban/78.3.458

16. Anderson, K., Laxhman, N., Priebe, S. 2015. Can mental health interventions change social networks? A systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry* **15**, 297. doi:10.1186/s12888-015-0684-6

17. Elsenbruch, S., Benson, S., Rücke, M., et al. 2007. Social support during pregnancy: effects on maternal depressive symptoms, smoking and pregnancy outcome, Human Reproduction, 22(3), 869–877, doi: 10.1093/humrep/del432

18. Morikawa, M., Okada, T., Ando, M. et al. 2015. Relationship between social support during pregnancy and postpartum depressive state: a prospective cohort study. Sci Rep 5, 10520. doi: 10.1038/srep10520

19. Racine, N., Madigan, S., Plamondon, A. et al. 2018. Maternal adverse childhood experiences and antepartum risks: the moderating role of social support. Arch Womens Ment Health **21**, 663–670. doi: 10.1007/s00737-018-0826-1

20. Giesbrecht, GF., Poole, JC., Letourneau, N., Campbell, T., Kaplan, BJ., the APrON Study Team. 2013. The Buffering Effect of Social Support on Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Function During Pregnancy, Psychosomatic Medicine: 75(9) 856-862. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0000000000000004 21. Oakley, A., Hickey, D., Rajan, L, Rigby, AS. 1996. Social support in pregnancy: Does it have long-term effects?, Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 14:1, 7-22. doi: 10.1080/02646839608405855

22. Grady, MA., Bloom, KC. 2004. Pregnancy outcomes of adolescents enrolled in a Centering Pregnancy program. J Midwifery Womens Health, 49(5), 412-20. doi: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2004.05.009.

23. Barnes, J., Stuart, J., Allen, E., Petrou, S., Sturgess, J., Barlow, J., *et al.* 2017. Results of the First Steps study: a randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of the Group Family Nurse Partnership (gFNP) programme compared with usual care in improving outcomes for high-risk mothers and their children and preventing abuse. *Public Health Res,* 5(9).

24. Callaghan, A., McCombe, G., Harrold, A., McMeel, C., Mills, G., Moore-Cherry, N., Cullen,
W. 2021. The impact of green spaces on mental health in urban settings: a scoping review, Journal of Mental Health, 30:2, 179-193. doi: <u>10.1080/09638237.2020.1755027</u>

25. White, MP., Pahl, S., Wheeler, BW. Depledge, MH., Fleming, LE. 2017. Natural environments and subjective wellbeing: Different types of exposure are associated with different aspects of wellbeing, Health & Place, 45, 77-84. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2017.03.008.

26. Triguero-Mas, M., Dadvand, P., Cirach, M., Martínez, D., Medina, A., Mompart, A., Basagaña, X., Gražulevičienė, R., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. 2015. Natural outdoor environments and mental and physical health: Relationships and mechanisms. Environment International, 77, 35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2015.01.012

27. Thomas, F. 2015. The role of natural environments within women's everyday health and wellbeing in Copenhagen, Denmark. Health & Place, 35, 187-195. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.11.005

28. Ashbullby, KJ., Pahl, S., Webley, P., White, MP. 2013. The beach as a setting for families' health promotion: A qualitative study with parents and children living in coastal regions in Southwest England. Health & Place, 23, 138-147. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2013.06.005.

29. Mitchell, R, Popham, F. 2008. Effect of exposure to natural environment on health inequalities: an observational population study. The Lancet, 372(9650), 1655 – 1660. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61689-X.

30. Liu, H., Ren, H., Remme, RP., Nong, H., Sui, C. 2021. The effect of urban nature exposure on mental health—a case study of Guangzhou. Journal of Cleaner Production, 304,127100, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127100.

31. McEachan, RRC., Prady, SL., Smith, G., et al. 2016. The association between green space and depressive symptoms in pregnant women: moderating roles of socioeconomic status and physical activity. J Epidemiol Community Health, 70:253-259. doi: 10.1136/jech-2015-205954.

32. Müller-Riemenschneider, F., Petrunoff, N., Yao, J. et al. 2020. Effectiveness of prescribing physical activity in parks to improve health and wellbeing - the park prescription randomized controlled trial. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*, **17**, **42**. doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-00941-8

33. Bowler, D.E., Buyung-Ali, L.M., Knight, T.M. et al. 2010. A systematic review of evidence for the added benefits to health of exposure to natural environments. *BMC Public Health* **10**, 456. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-10-456

34. Foster, A., Thompson, J., Holding, E., et al. 2020. Impact of social prescribing to address loneliness: A mixed methods evaluation of a national social prescribing programme. *Health Soc Care Community*, 00: 1–11. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13200

35. Van den Berg, AE. 2017. From Green Space to Green Prescriptions: Challenges and Opportunities for Research and Practice. Frontiers in Psychology, 8, 268. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00268

36. Dayson, C., Bashir, N. 2014. The social and economic impact of the Rotherham Social Prescribing Pilot: Main Evaluation Report. Sheffield Hallam University. Available at: http://shura.shu.ac.uk/18961/1/Dayson-SocialAndEconomicImpact-Rotherham(VoR).pdf – [Accessed July 2021].

37. Hubbard, G., Daas, C. D., Johnston, M., Murchie, P., Thompson, C. W., & Dixon, D.
(2021). Are Rurality, Area Deprivation, Access to Outside Space, and Green Space Associated with Mental Health during the COVID-19 Pandemic? A Cross Sectional Study (CHARIS-E). *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *18*(8), 3869. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18083869

38. NHS England. 2021. Green Social Prescribing. Available at: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/social-prescribing/green-social-prescribing/</u> -[Accessed July 2021].

Public Health England (PHE). 2021. Public Health Profiles - Deprivation.
 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/deprivation#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/1
 02/iid/1730/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1". [Accessed July 2021].

40. Public Health England (PHE). 2021. Public Health Profiles – Perinatal mental health. <u>https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/perinatal-mental-</u> <u>health#page/3/gid/1938132915/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000015/iid/848/age</u> /168/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0. [Accessed July 2021]. 41. Price, A., Janssens, A., Dunn-Morua, S. et al. 2019. Seven steps to mapping health service provision: lessons learned from mapping services for adults with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) in the UK. *BMC Health Serv Res*, 19, 468. doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4287-7.

42. De Silva, M.J., Breuer, E., Lee, L. *et al.* 2014.Theory of Change: a theory-driven approach to enhance the Medical Research Council's framework for complex interventions. Trials, 15, 267. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-15-267.